THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.

Standard of Review


A trial court’s ruling on a motion for acquittal is reviewed de novo.  United States v. Johnson, 357 F.3d 980, 983 (9th Cir. 2004).  When a claim of sufficiency of the evidence is preserved by a motion for acquittal at the close of the evidence, the appellate court reviews the district court’s denial of the motion de novo.  United States v. Carranza, 289 F.3d 634, 641 (9th Cir. 2002).  The appellate court reviews evidence presented against the defendant in a light most favorable to the government to determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.  See United States v. Johnson, 357 F.3d at 983.  
Argument I.


A. Counts One, Two, and Four
Counts One through Four of the first superseding indictment charged Defendant of willfully, knowingly, and with the specific intent to threaten, transmitted, caused to be transmitted, and aided and abetted the transmission of communications in interstate commerce, which communications were threats to injure the person of another in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 875(c).  The elements of section 875(c) are 1) an intentional interstate transmission of a communication; 2) threatening to injure a person, 3) with the specific intent to threaten.  United States v. Twine, 853 F.2d 676, 679-80 (9th Cir. 1988).  

However, the Supreme Court has held that “a statement such as [section 875(c)], which makes criminal a form of pure speech, must be interpreted with the commands of the First Amendment clearly in mind.  What is a threat must be distinguished from what is constitutionally protected speech.”  Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 707 (1969).  In Virginia v. Black, 538 U.S. 343, 359-50 (2003), the Supreme Court further defined true “threats” as “those statements where the speaker means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals.”  See also United States v. Cassel, 408 F.3d 622, 631 (9th Cir. 2005).

In Watts, the defendant was convicted of making a threat against the President under 18 U.S.C. section 871(a) by making the following statement:  “They always holler at us to get an education.  And now I have already received my draft classification as 1-A and I have got to report for my physical this Monday coming.  I am not going.  If they ever make me carry a rifle the first man I want to get in my sights is L. B. J.”  Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. at 706.  The Supreme Court held that, “taken in context, and regarding the expressly conditional nature of the statement and the reaction of the listeners [who responded with laughter],” the “kind of political hyperbole indulged by petitioner” was merely “a kind of very crude offensive method of stating a political opposition to the President,” and was not a true “threat.”  Id., at 708.  In doing so, the Supreme Court distinguished “political hyperbole” from a true “threat,” and recognized the importance of examining statements “in context” to determine whether they are true threats punishable by law.  Ibid.

The messages at issue in this case were protected speech in furtherance of a labor dispute under the First Amendment, and thus they did not constitute a true “threat.”  Mr. Sutcliffe was a former employee of Global Crossing until he was terminated in September 2001.  Mr. Sutcliffe was allegedly terminated for integrity and insubordination.  (RT 361, 364, 381).  According to Saly, Mr. Sutcliffe had falsely represented on his job application that he did not have a conviction in the past 7 years.  (RT 383).  

Mr. Sutcliffe believed that a traffic ticket did not constitute a crime, which needed to be reported on an employer’s application, and he protested his termination by picketing outside Global Crossing.  One of the messages posted on the website demanded an apology from Global Crossing.  One of the messages addressed to Greenwood read:  “Now just say you are sorry.  Admit that an infraction ticket is not a crime . . .”  (RT 707).  Another message read, “Until then I shall fight your accusations under the law.”  (RT 903).  Clearly, Mr. Sutcliffe was embroiled in a labor dispute with Global Crossing, and the alleged messages that were posted in the website were made in the context of a labor dispute.

1.  Counts One and Two

Counts One and Two alleged that Mr. Sutcliffe posted the following statements directed at Tracy Hall:  1) “I will personally send you back to the hell from where you came;” and 2) “I will kill you.”   Tracy Hall was a process server hired by Global Crossing to serve Mr. Sutcliffe with a temporary restraining order to stop him from making statements on the website in protest of the termination of his employment.  Not only was Hall trying to serve the TRO to stop the website, she also was alleged to have contacted Child Protective Services to report Mrs. Sutcliffe allegedly beating her daughter.  (RT 723-24).  Thus, Hall was entangled in Mr. Sutcliffe’s labor dispute with Global Crossing.  

It was in this context Mr. Sutcliffe made the statements alleged in Counts One and Two.  The full text of the statement alleged in Count One is as follows:  “To close, Tracy Hall, if you call this house again and threaten me, or my family, or ever appear near me, or my family, I will personally send you back to the hell from where you came.”  (RT 1335).  

The full text of the statement alleged in Count Two is as follows:  “. . . I really don’t take kindly to people threatening me or lying to the courts that they served me with a T.R.O., . . . Our paths are now crossed and we are forever joined . . . to deal with that I am going to make you a one time offer.  If I never see or hear from or of you again, I will forget you . . . However, if I do ever hear your name mentioned against me ever again I will personally add you to my domain list.  I think you understand the issues now enough to understand what this means.  If I ever see you near my family again, and I know how to stalk too, I will kill you.  That’s my offer.  Now, go in the peace and lie about me no more.”  (RT 1336-1337).  
The Supreme Court stated in Watts that the language used in labor disputes “is often vituperative, abusive, and inexact.”  Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. at 708.  As in Watts, the statements directed at Hall were conditional. Therefore, “taken in context, and regarding the expressly conditional nature of the statement[s]” the statements directed at Hall were merely “a kind of very crude offensive method” of telling Hall to stay out of the labor dispute Mr. Sutcliffe has against Global Crossing and were not a true “threat.”
2.  Count Four

Count Four alleged that Mr. Sutcliffe posted the following statements directed at Elizabeth Greenwood:  “Dead-icated to Elizabeth Greenwood” and accompanied by sound file of voice stating “This is all far from over” and linked to a photograph of Greenwood and her young daughter.  
Greenwood was GX’s assistant general counsel and assistant corporate secretary.  (RT 623-624).  Mr. Sutcliffe had interacted with Greenwood regarding his problems with human resources at Global Crossing.  (RT 627).  Again, it is clear that the statement at issue was made in the context of a labor dispute.  Because the message was posted as a part of the labor dispute, it could not be construed as a true “threat.”  Furthermore, the statement at issue did not even “communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence” upon Greenwood.  Moreover, a reasonable person would not believe Greenwood felt threatened by the defendant’s statement since she never took steps one would reasonably take if one feared someone was coming to harm them or was truly a danger to one’s family, and there was no history of violence from the defendant toward Greenwood while he worked at the company or afterward. (RT 733-735). 
The district court should have granted Mr. Sutcliffe’s motion for acquittal because the alleged statements were not a true “threat,” but rather protected speech under the First Amendment.  See Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. at 708.
Argument II.


1. Counts Five through Nine

Counts Five through Nine of the first superseding indictment charged Defendant of violating 18 U.S.C. section 1028(a)(7) of knowingly transferring, without lawful authority and in a manner affecting interstate commerce, Social Security numbers, with the intent to aid and abet false representation of Social Security numbers for any purpose, with intent to deceive in violation of 42 U.S.C. section 408(a)(7)(B). 

Section 1028(a)(7) makes it a crime to “knowingly transfer[] or use[], without lawful authority, a means of identification of another person with the intent to commit, or to aid or abet, any unlawful activity that constitutes a violation of Federal law, or that constitutes a felony under any applicable State or local law.” 18 U.S.C. §  1028(a)(7).  Thus, in order to conviction someone under section 1028(a)(7), the Government must prove the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) that the defendant knowingly transferred or used a means of identification of another person; (2) that such transfer was performed without lawful authority; (3) that such transfer was performed with the intent to commit, or aid or abet, any Federal crime or any felony under State or local law; and (4) that the transfer was in or affected interstate or foreign commerce. See 18 U.S.C. §  1028(a)(7), (c).

42 Title U.S.C. section 408(a)(7)(B) provides: “Whoever . . . for any . . . purpose . . . with intent to deceive, falsely represents a number to be the social security account number assigned by the Commissioner of Social Security to him or to another person, when in fact such number is not the social security account number assigned by the Commissioner of Social Security to him or to such other person . . . shall be guilty of a felony.”  Thus, in order to convict someone under section 408(a)(7)(B), the Government must show that defendant (1) for any purpose, (2) with the intent to deceive, (3) represented a particular social security number to be his or another person's, (4) which representation is false.  See United States v. Perez-Campos, 329 F.3d 1214, 1215 (10th Cir. 2003), citing United States v. Darrell, 828 F.2d 644, 647 (10th Cir. 1987); see also United States v. Porter, 409 F.3d 910, 915 (8th Cir. 2005), citing United States v. McKnight, 17 F.3d 1139, 1143 (8th Cir. 1994).

In order to convict someone for aiding and abetting a criminal offense, the evidence must establish that the offense actually was committed.  United States v. Korab, 893 F.2d 212, 213 (9th Cir. ), citing United States v. Powell, 806 F.2d 1421, 1424 (9th Cir. 1986).  In addition, “[t]here is no question but there must be a guilty principal before there can be an aider or abettor.  (citations omitted).”  United States v. Jones, 425 F.2d 1048, 1056 (9th Cir.), cert. Denied, 400 U.S. 823 (1970).

Therefore, in order to prove that Defendant intended to aid and abet any crime, the government must demonstrate that Defendant knew that his action would tend to advance “some nefarious purpose of the principal” and that he had “the specific intent of facilitating or advancing the principal's commission of the underlying crime.”  See United States v. Frampton, 382 F.3d 213, 223 (2d Cir. 2004). 

The evidence in this case failed to show that Defendant transferred or aided and abetted the transfer of Social Security numbers with intent to aid and abet false representation of Social Security numbers in violation of section 408(a)(7)(B).  There was no evidence whatsoever to show that anyone committed a crime under section 408(a)(7)(B) by representing a particular social security number to be his or another person’s for any purpose with the intent to deceive.  


Because the Government failed to identify any principal whom Defendant intended to aid and abet there was no evidence to support Defendant’s convictions under 18 U.S.C. § 1028(a)(7) and 18 U.S.C. § 2. [See United States v. Korab, United States v. Powell, and United States v. Jones, supra.]

Further, the Government completely failed to demonstrate any false representation(s) of any social security number(s) actually occurred –again, there was no evidence to support Defendant’s convictions under sections 1028(a)(7). Both deficiencies mandated the district court to grant defendant’s motion and in so doing, the district court erred. [See United States v. Frampton, supra.]


 Even the prosecutor admitted there was no proof defendant transmitted any of the pages containing any of the social security numbers. During closing arguments of the trial the prosecutor stated “The fact that he had access [sic] to it [the numbers] shows his identification, shows it was most likely him [sic] that posted it.” (RT 12/04/03, 2139). Furthermore, the government’s computer expert, when cross-examined by the defense, testified that he could not tell accurately whether the defendant created some, none, or all of the pages, or whether they had been modified or altered, before or after they had been posted on the Internet, or whom had posted them and from where. (RT 11/25/03, 1609-1610).  Here the district court was forced to dive into what one Circuit has acknowledged as “a complex, often convoluted, area of the law.” U.S. v. Steiger, 318 F.3d 1039, 1047 (11th Cir. 2003) (internal citation and quotation omitted). The district court emerged from those depths with overbroad and dangerous holdings. One holding is that one may be convicted of aiding and abetting without any principle being identified.
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